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Katlolf: This Is part II of an oral history interview with Dr. William 

Kaufmann, held 1n Washington, D.C., on Jul, 23, 1986, at 2:00 p... Rep-

re.enting the OS)) Historical Office is Dr. Maurice Matlott. 

Dr. Kaufmann, at the end of our .. etlng on July 14, we had begun to 

discus. the role you plsyed in connection with area problems and cri.ea. 

W. bad spoken about NATO, and I fd Uke to resume now with the BeT1in 

crisil of 1961-62. Did you play any role in connection with that crisla' 

I came acrOS8 lomething in the records about your findlaa 80me bteUlgence 

data dealing with Soviet forcea--does that ring a bell with you? 

!.C.aufunn: No, that doesn't. What I re_aber most about the 1961 crie1. 

18 being 109ol.ed with Paul Nitza and Seyaour Wetsa froe the State Depart"nt 

and DeeArmstrong and Al Koody fro. the Ara,. and firat starting to thrash 

out what kind of responsea one might make to a .ariety of posalble SOViet 

lIICNes a,alut Berlin. Then goina 00 fro. there, with Noody and Al'lIIstroo, 

doing the bulk of the legwork, they de.eloped one of thele enor1llOus "horse 

blanketsU and we narrowed that down to what was called a "poodle blanket,-

whicb bad four basic .equential options. those es.entially were what were 

pre.eoted to tbe quadripartite meeting_ tbat Paul chaired 1n Washington 

In the fall of 1961. That t •• y moat clear recollection of lerlln. lne.l­

tably tbe work that Harry I.oweo. Ed Rowney aod 1 were doina on tbe non-

ouclear balance undoubtedly entered in there. We were just beginning to 

get some se08e of how deeply Khrusbcbev bad cu~ particularly 10to tbe 

Soviet sround forces. But that didn't really become a lot eleereruntll 
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MaUoff: What. was your oplnloR of why the Iluss1atts backed off when they did? 

Kaufunn: 1 probably shouldn't have had. but 1 had access to sOlIe of the 

ao-called "1 ron bark data." if you're fallillar with that--that' a the 

Peok~ty .. terial. 1 think that those who bad any aceea. to that materlal 
, 

recognized that the Soviet UU10R, or at least its kay .tlitary leaders, 

felt far weaker than was the seneral estimate in NATO or iR the UDited 

States. They were not all that intereated 1n a showdown. Yet the 

President's position, a8 we understood it at the time. W$8 that we were 

not golns to do another airlift operation, but tbat this was goias 

to be flat-out confrontatlon. There were solns to be teat. aloo8 

the Autobahn. if nec ••• ary, although the Allie., bavina signed off on 

three of the four aequential choicea. woul~ntt touch the fourth, ~ich 

beca .. nuclear, with a 40-foot pole. 

Katloff: Vere you asked for any specific recoameodationa or advice on 

your own! 

Kauf_nn: In connection with the studies, yes, I was very IlUcb i1Wolved. 

Then in Noveaber of 1962 a rather large group went up to Caap David. 

Thi. was the first time we involved the Allies 1n one of the political-

.ilitary g_ ... which To. Schelling had set up. and we spent four days 

trying to play out so .. of the •• possibilities. Desptte the despicable 

thins_ that To. aa Director was doing on the Autobahn. nobody on the 

Allied side was aver willing to do anything. 

Katloff: Bow about tbe Cuban .1aalle crists. were you In any way drawn in 

on that? 
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held dilcualiona that -p~eQeded the President'a announcement of the 
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quarantine. 1 aa not clear about the dates, as to wbether Harry Rowen called 

me up before or after the President'. apeech, and 8ald to coae down. 

I think in all the time t was at HIT that waa one of the two times I cut 

clas.ea. t was In tbe Pentagon essenr.ially for rougbly a week, with 

relatively little aleep. Harry Rowen first aaked me what I wanted to 

wort. on. r said that the position that aeellled to be elll8rgl118 fro. the 

administratioG, Damely that tbia was a political Isa ... , not a ail1tal:'1 

one, vaa not a atrong p081tion. aod that I wanted to loot. very specifically 

at the implications of the deplo.,...ot of the.e mi. all.. to Cuba. t aat 

up all night witb one of ..,. for .. r Rand associates, 'rank Trinkl, and we 

worked the calculattons wbich demonstrated. at leaat to our aattsfaction t 

that owing to the way in wbich SAC deployed on a generated alert, and 

that was atl11 the critical co.ponent of the u.s. deterrent, they mov.d 

rigbt down Into tbe direction of the .1ss11es in Cuba, because the, bad 

alwa,. assumed that tbe threat was soinS to come on the polar trajector,~ 

and thet tbe further south they got on tbeir e .. rgene, deployments the 

better. It looked as though the .lasl1es In Cuba could make a rather 

substantial .tlicary 41fference. Froa then on out. Harry Bowen, the key 

per80n at the Pentagon sinc. HcNallara was over In the EXa.. was IIOstl,. 

occupied with talkins with MeRamara or Nitze. who was a180 in tbe White 

Hou... and runnlq back and forth with messqes. (Ner the course of the 

weak I aa.e.bled a groupt and we bee... the rapid respon •• group to que.­

tione that came fro. the EXCOMH, or on our own eent thoughts ov.r via Harr,. 



+ 

DECLASS1F1EQ IN PART 
Authority: EO 13526 . 
Chief, Records & Declass DIY, WHS 
Date: SEP 1 7 201S 

4 

Matlof!: That would bage been in the ISA office, right? Row 

effectLvely did the national a&eurity apparatua seem to be working during 

that crisis? Basically the same people were operating at the top level 

ae during tbe lay of Pigs affair--dld you get any impressiona of how the 

ayatea waa working in this ease? 

Kaufuruu I have _ny very specific recollections. I was convinced at 

the time, although I really don't know the data all that well 1n retrospect, 

that one of the ra.sons, lf' not the key reason, that Kennedy did DOt 

order an alr atrike very aarly on was that t;bare was a fundamental 

ud.su~eutand.i'DI between General Sneney t the TAC co_nder, and the 

at the d .. that the Chief. wanted to uee 

... r'LIiIlI& a. an "Opportunity to invade and get dd of castro, so they 

were always talking about a very larse Carsat list. Kennedy and the 

others were talking about a very .ull tarset liat. Sweeney would never 

glva the kind ·of •• aurances that the Presidant was looking for 9 and I 

think. that Mde him decide that lt was too rlaky. Re wanted very bigh 

confidence, and alnce Sweeney was talking about a mucb larger target l1st. 

he couldn't offer the very high confidence. j53 .. .3tb)( S-) 

Matloff: One of the a1.del1gbta that came out of our d1sc.aaeions with ausk 

last weak in connection with the 8ay of Pigs was his great regret that be 

didn • t ask. the Prea1dent to ask the JCS bow ... ch it would coat in Alaadcan 
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and looked at the Cuban brigade and thought that it was not going to work. 

Are there any other impressions about the apparatu8 and how it was working . 
doing that period 'I 

Kaufmann: I have only a 1IlOle'l-eye vIew of the whola thb..... twas 

sitting 18 to 20 hours a day 1n Harry Iowen t • offiee with a rather 

fluctuating sroup of people. 

Hatloff: Were you working mostly with civil servants, or outside eODlultantsf 

l(aufUlU1: It waa a mixture. I remellber To. Schelling wandering 1n and 

tben wanderins out. Natha' Leitea. from Rand, lpent a fair amount of 

time. It waa primarily a atandard mixture of ISA, civilians. and lI111tary, 

with a lot of kibitzers Itanding around and watching what we were doing--

from the Joint Staff, the CIA. and other places. We were scrambling 

around trying to answer queationl or sending over our own thousllts a8 we 

developed data. 

Matloff: Were you getting an, of the thrust of the discu8sions golns on 

1n the IXCOMH'I 

¥aufunn: Yes, and toward the very end Paul Sitze came back very distressed 

at the thought that there W88 going to be thia eompromi" solution to the 

eriais. 

Matloff: Do you recall what he wanted? 

butunn: 1 wanted it, too. 1 felt a8 Dean Ru8k did in bie falllOU8 remark 

about their bUnking. That waa very evident on Wednesday of that particular 

wee", that tbe, were jut not loins to preas thi. thing. I didn't see the 

need to uke any eoneessions wbatsoner t just to insist on their remo.1ng 
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the mi88ile. and continutac ~o ,ear up for the forcible te.oval, if that 

became necessary. So I .... ".l'141stu.rbed. aa Paul was, at the notion 
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that we would uke a My ortginal 

aenee was that they werenft evealoing toheaeparated in time. I 

worked very hard, moat1y through that Saturday night and into Sunday 

morning. trying to ftgure out and provide Paul Nit.a with a way of at 

leaat delaying this kind of decision. 

Madoff t You would have preferred no deal witb 

Kaufunn: Uiht. I waa actually work.ing in his office on 80me drafts 

tbat Sunday I'AOtning when. the newl that Khrushcbev had dedded to withdraw 

the misal1ea came in. 

Matloff: At the Ume. what II1lht have bean the decisiVe factor in 

Khruahchav r's retreat? 

KaufllBD!ll We spent Sunday afternoon in the best Kenaedy-ite tr-oition in 

a post mortell with KeNa.ta, and I was very _eh a fly on the wall. Gen. 

LeMay was saying that tha generated alert by SAC and tbis formidable force 

ready to go really did the trick. Gen. Wheeler. Army Chief of Staff, was 

.ayiug no, that it wa. the mobillaation and deployment of forces in Georgia 

and Ilorida and the read1nes8 to bit In the theater that was the decisive 

element. I don't particularly remember tbe Navy's poaition, because 

Admiral Anderson .. as so involved with KcNamara in thst awful episode. 

Matloff: Were you aware of t.hat episode at the time? 

KaufMnn: t think that I waa, but _lIlOry play. tric.ks. 

Katloff: Anderson re_mberl it very '111811. 
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Kaufmann: In the early 10s I had a kind of funny supervisory role over 

NSA and the PFIAB of the NSC, and that waa When Adm. Anderson was chairman 

of the PFIAS. I became very aware of his feelings. 

Matloff: What .tlht bave .ade the Soviet. retr.at? Did ,ou have any 

thoulhta about that? 

ltaufaa1!!; Urat. although 1 don't think 1 \.ne" at the time, tten1\edy vas 

putting tbe odda of a nuclear war a. hllh at he did, 1 In 3, which struck 

me •• ludicrously bilb. 1 must have known tbat be had made that kind of 

stare.ant and I really felt that there was a gr •• t deal of dlstance between 

us and any kind of use of nuclear weapona. R~ever. whether I waa rilht 

OT not, Kennedy had that very stroog sense, and 1 certainly ca .. to believ., 

as a result of the very emotionel .e •• al. that Kbrushchev sent on the 

Friday evening, which they then trled to let rid of, that Khrusbcnev .uat 

have felt tbe same way. Botb sides were trying to back away fro. this 

risk, at leaat. a, faat as they could. 1 really don't think that one can 

aay that Wheele~ was fiiht. or that Gen. LeMay was rigbt, because it could 

have been an escalatory process that you couldn't really control. 

Matlotf: What was the impact of this crisis on your own 8tratelic thinking? 

Kaufmann: 1 don't think that it cbanled anything. but it certainly very strongly 

reInforced .Y view thar presidents just want to keep as f.~ away fro. 

nudear weapons a8 tb., possibly can. So 1t 'fainfoned .y view that 

while It vaa absolutely easential to .. intain a .tronl nuclear deterrent. 

rbe eonventionalbuildup deserved first priority. 

Matloff: Was this a180 reflected in the official doctrine? 
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Kaufmann: I don't recall any dr ..... Uc cheqe. I ar&ued at the ti_. why 

not try no flr8t use, wldch Boh.Melaul'a now. wben be 18 out of office t 

very strongly favors. But he wouldn't consider it at the time. 

Hatloff: We're in the period of the mutual assured destruction doctrine, 

.a 1 :recall. 

Kaufllt&D.D.: 1 think that haa been a serious misunderstanding of what was . 
actually going on. I really tbink that whole situation has been 1I18un4er-

stood. in pa .... ', as a result of what lIcN8IIt&ra himself was sayine_ But tbe 

SlOP never chanse4. The options r ..... lned in. aod to on. Ny sense of 

what va goi. on was, first. that While HeNamara intellectually bought 
he 

all t~ arguments for options, .lDOt{oully/"" really £1:'011 the outset 

very opposed to nuclear weapone 1n any way. shape, or £01:'11. Se.cood. I 

think tbat be became increaaingly disillusioned with any puhlic discus8ion 

of option. £1'011 the force planning standpoint, because he saw that as an 

open invitation, particularly fot' tlul Air '0t'C8, to ask for more and 

l1Ot'e. So he kept looking fol." a way of trying to cut off these dellanda. 

'or force pLanninl purpo.e., he tben introduced tbe assured destl."uction 

criterion. If you look at that ct'iterion vel."y carefully. in tbe way it 

Was used t you will see that what be did was to make it sufficiently 

constralnina so that they couldn't .ak for 20,000 Minutemen or whatever, 

down into partlculat' 

s) 
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survival rates, than you needed for the 8o-called assured destruction 
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l.i.'eet.8. I am very sy.pathetic to what he was trying to do. but it was 

kind of a white lie; he was u8ing that 88 a basia fox the force planning, 

to try and fend off the demanda. On the other hand. be was really 

continuing to make sure that there were enou,h warheads so as to cover a 

comprehensive tarsat Ust in the SlOP. It really waan't until '13, when 

Schlesinger ca_ to feel that the "Whole thing waa not only 1ntellecta.lly 

dishonest and mialeadins but a180 that targeta were chanCing In such a 

way that it was no longer an adequate sort of a180rltba for arr1vl.. at 

force atructure, that he began maki .. atatements that also were not qulte 

accurate, but reflected the view that we should give up this kind of 

dislulse. 

Matloff: What ~.a your attitude toward American involvement in Vietnam! 

What did you think waa at atake for American security or national intereat? 

Did you. believe in the domino theory in the early ... ys! 

Kauf1lUUlll: I really don't re1l8aber on the doaino theory. My view fr08 the 

outset was that, whtle I could aee no vital atrategic or econoaic intere8~ 

that we had in South Vietnall, we bad lnvested a lot of prestige. In any 

event, to the ex.tent that 1 had aecess to data. wbich increased with 

time, tbi. was a Horth Vietnamese operatloft and wa. a lot more aabtle. in 

part perhapa beeau.e of the terrain, than the Horth Korean operation 

.. a:lnst South Korea. Othar:wiaa. frankly. 1 did not at the time sea that 

there waa all that 8reat a difference. t aat. aara that there were just 
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8S many discontented peasants in South Ko~ea aa there were in Soutb Viet-

nSll, but there were so many differencea in geography, climate, and other 

things. While I cau't say tbat I was ever a great enthusiast for the 

war, 1 neYer actively opposed it, and was perfectly willing to work on 

how one 1I1ght 4eal with the pt'oblells. 

Matloff: What role did you play in connection with Vietnam duriUl the 

Kennedy and Johnson administrstions? 

Kaufmann: I played essentially no role 4urlng the Kennedy adllinlstratlon. 

Matloff: Your advice was not soughtf 

Kaufmann: I really cutt recall. if it waa. 1 bees_ involved very 

exclusively In it for about six months, starting tn early 1964, aod it 

was after I bad takeD leave from .y relationship with the Pentagon in 

order to do tbis for the pot boiler on McNamara. I dldn't think that it 

waa appropriate to stay on the payroll. When I had finished with all of 

that, Harry B.owen called .. up and .aid to come on back down, .aM 1 replied 

only on the cond:ltion that I could get involved with the Vietna1l issue, 
~creasi.ngly 

which I thoUlht was becoa:lq iofteaatllli:y p'l'o.t:nent. I waa vet'y mu.ch 

involved for approximately six .onths, when I was told that I should stop 

and go back to working on NATO. 

~!loft: Where did this order come fro.? 

Kaufman,,: It came frail McNaaara. a8 far a8 1 know. What 1 was do1ag, 

essentially. tn part to fall1lteriz8 .y.elf w:ltb the 1.8ue8. waa conducting 

interviews wIth returning officers and civilians. As I talked to tbea 

and began developing .y own ideas. I, as uaual, began writing Maoa, and 



I ,~. ,!'" '.'" If" 

Page determined to be Unclassified 
Reviewed Chief. ROD. WHS 
lAW EO 13526. Section 3.5 

Date: SEP 17 2013 

increasingly they began to suggest change. in operations. 

t, 

11 

At that tiM. 

88 1 aa sure others have said, there was an awful lot of tugging and 

hauling between McNamara and the Chiefs about division of labor. MY 

understanding at the time, and Paul Nitce bas more or less confirmed this 

to 1118 since. was that essentially MeNaura and the Chiefs struet. a deal, 

although I don't think it held, na_ly that be would k •• p his people out 

of operational issuea and the Chiefs would no longer fight the OSD staff 

involvement in the force planning issu.s. 

Matloff: General force planning iS8ues, or about Vietnam? 

Kaufmann: In geueral. They had strongly resisted this intrusion in the 

force planuins and with the whole development of the draft presidential 

memorandu. process, ori.lnally presideutial meaorandu.--I believe I was 

the cause of ita beln. Cbanled from PHs to DPHe--I must have been eeeu 

as breaking the deal and getting more and mora into operational iesues. 

Matloff: And you were given no explanation when you were taken off this? 

Kauf1ll4nn: No, I was told that I was needed back in NATO, or something of 

that sort. 

Matloff: Did you have any iepressiona of what McNamara's objective. were 

toward Vietn ... ? also, !tennedy's and Johnson la? What cia you think they 

were after? Was it defending Vietna .... freedom? 

lCaufmann: It was a problem. My i.preasion of DoD 18 that we alwaya had 

a problem trying to define objectivea, but to put it very al.ply, I would 

say that it waa a ca.blaatlon of trying to pacify South Vietnam and preaerve 

its Independence and territorial integrity, in the good old worda. 
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Ketloff: Dld you ever have a dilcussion with MeNamara along those lines, 

about what he thought our policy and goal were in Vietnam? 

Kaufmann: No. I don't recall it. 

Matloff: Did you ever get back to Vietnam. after being pulled off? 

Kauf_nn: Yes, after Tet. I got drawn in. It waa the perlodwhen eve1'1-

body was throwiag up hi. hands and trying to figure out waYB, with Paul 

Warnke very _ch in the lead II of how we could gracefully diaentansle our-

selves from it. 1 aBBume that was the time when Clark Clifford alao was 

undergoing the conversion that he has spoken of 80 eloquently. lSA had 

come up with a scheme for which Mort Halperin was largely reaponaible, 

and Larry Lynn, than in Systems Analysis, showed me thia one day. 1 

thought that it waa militarily totally unrealistic. I got very heavily 

involved not only criticising that but also suggesting alternative ways 

of trying to uintain a po81tion, since it seemed to be agreed that there 

W88 to be a limitation on the U.S. collldt_nt; how you could do that 

without expoaiag yourself militarily. 

Katloff: Could you senae any disillusionment on McNamara's part? 

Kaufmann: Yes. I became very Bensitive to it in connectioa with tbe 1-

52 bo.bias. He seemed at that tin to be relyins vary heavily on so_ 

land work which suggested that the 1-'2s were really h .. lag a devastating 

effect on Viet Cons morale, as well as on casualties. I was very skeptical 

about that, and had a gradu.ate studeat. at the ti_ who was avel'Y lood 

statistician. I got him cleared and we speat quite a bit of time, because 

the data aaalple was rather _ ... 11, dellOnatrating that the Leon Gour' and 
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other argUIIeDta that were ''beins ude at the ti_ just eould not be sup­

ported by eareful atariatieal analy~i. of Vlat toftS behavior. 

Hatloff: This waa done before 08D? 
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laufunn: It was done IIOre or le •• on our own. off my own bat. That was 

the advantage of being a consultant. Then 1 _bowed it to Adam Yaraolinaky t 

who wa. very intereated and impres.ed by it, and be then showed it to 

MeB.aara. 1 think that it was Ada .. who reported back that th1a aeeaed to 

be the final at raw aa far as HeNaura'a willingne88 to aupport the bombing. 

Matloff: There was a ahift in position? 

buf_rut: Yea, but 11m not aure about the datea. 

Matloff: 1 came acrosa an intereating quote in yout' volume on The ·MeNalDSra 

8tratell that I'd like to try out 0. you \\ow: " ••• the future course of 

the war in SouthVietna .. remained uncertain in 1963. But McNamara cont1n-

ned to beli,"e in the neceaaity of defendiD8 Vietnamese freedora. Whether 

the counterinsurgency program instituted for that purpose would do the job 

8till could not be deterralned. As to whether or not tbe United States 

sbould be developing a major counterinsurgency capability there can hardly 

be any doubt at all. Khrushchev'a declaratioos of support for wara of 

nat1o\\al liberation and tbe instabilities that exist in Southeaat Asia. 

Africa. and Latin Aaerica all Indlcate tbe vital {aportance of baving thia 

kind of capability_ No doubt we nave a great deal atill to learn in tbis 

eoapllcated area. and the problem is only partly ml1itary • • • • But where 

military actlo\\ 18 required, there appears to be no adequate Bubatitute 

for the types of capabilities that are c~tted to the campaign'1n South 
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Vietnam. The apprQach of multiple options Burely stands up well on that 

score." Does that strike a fatillar chord after these years? 

buf ... nn: No, not really. I follow the Satc:he1 Page motto. 

Matloff: Do you still agree with what you wrote, in the light of what 

happened later' Actually a lot of theae thinls that you were sayiag are 

1n line with what occurred. OIl the question of the need for a ... jor 

14 

counterinsurgency eapability--you were not sure that the extsting program 

was the tigbt one along this line, perbaps tbat was still to be deterained. 

At the very end you were talking about the multiple options approacb 

standing up well so far. Was Vietnam a full valid teat of the .ult!ple 

options approach in wartlae, aa you look back on it now? 

Kaufunn: I had Originally called tbe thing "full options," and then 

KcNamara or somebody else said that was loing too far, back 1n '61. so we 

came up with "multiple options... I think what I was trylnl to tUlgest in 

that paragraph is tbat aa part of those options one needed to have a major 

eounterinsurgeney capability_ The issue. I luasa in retroapect 1 would 

raha, without having a very load answer, ia how tIlUcb of a separate coun-

terinsurgency capability do you need. I think it's the issue that the 

Army bas wreatled with a Ireat deal over the yeara--to what e.tent can 

you take regular units snd strip out the heavy equipment and with a modest 

aaount of indoctrination really turn t~ looae, particularly in this tre-

mendoualy difficult terraint I stll1 donft have a good answer to that. 

One t:h1ng wblch I felt '1ery strongly about-one of ray forller studenta, an 

Aray major, just published his dissertation on the Army 1n Vietna-, aDd 

be and 1 foulbt baek and forth OYer tbe dlsaertation--is tbat 1 never 
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between paciflcation and s.arch aDd. de. troy • if you will.. The real tsaue 

there was Dot did you do ofte or the other. but how did you get: the right 

sort of balance between the two. One could arguably aay that the Army 

swung too far over toward .. arch and deatroy. but 1 don't thiak it ever 

was or ever could be an eitber/or proposition, aDd. we were really trying 

to do both. 

Hatloff: Let .. try a quote froll Enthoven's book, How Much ia Enough. 

written in 1911: "'lbe Systells Analysis office dld not bave a prominent, 

~cb 1eaa a crucial, role in the Vietnam war. .. I· In Vietnaa, no one 

Insisted on .,steaatlc efforta to understand, analyze, or interpret the 

war." How do you account for the fact that this "lDOat cOIIIP1ex of wara 

never got s.Tloua and ayatematie analysis?" In fact, elaewhere in tba 

book he aays that the proble. in the conduct of the war froll Vaahiqt.on 

was not "over.aoageaeDt t" but "under_nagelleDt .. " Given the McNamara 

administratloats strong intereat in effective .. nageuent. how can one 

account for tbi. development? Vas Vietnam a full valid test for systema 

analysia. In ,our view? 

)[auf_nn: t would quarrel somewhat with Alain's interpretation. I think 

there was a hig investment of staff within Syateas Analysis. It became a 

very big ataff. larger. I think. than the rest of the offlce eo.blned~ 

It was vOTkiQl on issues and. despite tbis alleged bargain, was letting 

very IlUcb into. operational matters. 1 tbink perhapswbat Alatn .18ht 

baYe said .ote .pecifically waa that while they were working on a whole 

set of Vietw.-related issues. their advice .. y not have been taken. 
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whatever that advice 1118.7 have. been J and to the extent that 1 was £a1l1.11ar 

With it, it waa not at all in consonance with what the President or the 

Chiefs were try!", to do. So I think a IIIOre accurate and precise statement 

would be t.bat they were worlt1.n.a hard all a lot of ebe.. 1saues 'but whatever 

they had to aay was not really being followed or recoaended. One of the 

probleas I always ran into in working with the people in Syst.ems Analyais 

was that they very quickly become 1I1cro-anal~sta. That l 8 where the oper­

ations research-type people feel moat comfortable--definins problems 

pretty narrowly and fixing the constrainta so they could make the probl .. 

manageable and 1I8k.e their toole work. There waa a lot: of that in syate_ 

analys18, so while I aympathize wit:h what Alain waa sayins there, I'll not 

aure that they would have come up with any gr:eat viaion about bow to deal 

wtt:h this probl ... 

Matloff: In 1II8.ny account. the war i. described as "Mr. KcNamarata war.-

Does that: see. to be a fair appellation? 

Kaufmann: I relllellber frail the very outaet of the adllinistration that there 

waa this trouble in Southeaat Asia. and while I personally was not at all 

involved in 1 t, people were already arguing about wbether we should take 

action, and if 80 •• hat kind., There was the fallOU8 dispute between Gen. 

LellDltzer aad others about what it would take to hold and whethe:r this 

would entall the uae of nuclear weapona. 1 vaguely recall the vie. that 

whereas Laoa 8Qd the Laotians were not very reliable, we could count on 

our stout South Vietnamese allle8 and that waa wbe~e we should really 

take our stand. It was a hot topiC, although 1 was not IDYolved in it at 
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that time, right from the outa.tot the admi1l'istration. To what extent 

HeNamara was pushing it. thon.atly don't know. There were an awful lct 

of misconcepticns, incldding my own, that cra.y Lin'~.ac 'pe.ch that get 

everybody excited at the tiM, about the ccuntrysf.de againat tba ctty. 

God know. what he was reaUy referring to, but that waa interpreted to 

_an that this was a declaraticn .of support by the Chineae fer the guer-

rillast which I dcubt that it was. in retroapect. 

Harlcff: In ycur reflections since the war, dc ycu regard Vietnam aa a 

failure for the United State.Y If 8.0, a failure of what--national policy, 

1I11itary policy, .or bcth? and what la the aisnifieance of Vietnam fe1:' AmedC8n 

8t1:'ate,ic thec1:'Y? OSD3.3(b)( ) ) 

Kaufmann: In 1965 8111 Bundy, by that time over at State. aeked lie to co_ 

over and look over the data of a White Paper that they were qain lOins to 

1.aue about the RC1:'th Vietnameae 1:'ole. It this time with all the apprc-

prlate ... .&..,.&:."'. data. IllUch of which .one could not dbulae 

becauae .of It was very clear tG lie. ae I think it waa 

to lill, that this was. a. the war had flilcalated very much. a Ncrth Vlet-

nameae GperariGu. Rut you couldn't publ1.btbet without the backup, becauae 

people had grown sc skeptleal about adminlat'l'ation atat_nta, and you 

couldn I t give the backup beea".. of tb. nat.ure of tbe sources. So I 

edviaed againat a White 'apaT and wrote an infGrmal draft tG Cons1:' •••• an 

Evans. which then was circulated 4S 4 sub.tltut. for a White Papar. I do 

nct baltev. that we w.re militarily defeated. I think tbe evidence 1a very 

cl.sr, in fact, althoush I did not believe tbis at the time, that the Tet 
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My own viev is that thereafter the Horth Vietnamese were as lo.t in South 

Vietaam as the A1aeTieans vera. And because they no longer had the VC to 

lead tbe1ll around by tbe hand, they were engaging increasingly In coaven-

tional operations. Aa long as U.S. air power va8 in there and even 

without U.S. ground forces, aa long as the RVN would form enough of a 

screen to let the air power do ita .ark. in '72 and again in '73 we just 

viped them out. They took a terrible beating, if 1 remember the dates 

correctly. but the moment we pulled out the air power that wa. the death 

varrant for the RVN. So militarily, t do not regard it as a defeat for 

the United Statea. We lived off equipment from Vietnam for years. 1 dontt 

mean to say this critically, but t think that the real problem wa. the 108. 

of national will. 

Matloff: Row about tba matter of Aaerican public opinion in a protracted 

war. wa. thia taken into account sufficiently by the theod.ts aM b1 the 

poUcyma'kerst 

Kauf_nn: No. 1 think that 1 can honestly .ay that 1 did point out tbat 

even with Korea after a couple of yeara paople began to 108e patience with 

that dTeadful atalemate, and that Eisenhower came in to a considerable 

e"tent on the prolli8e that he wa. loina to end that war. So in a much more 

clear-cut situation. i.e •• of North Korean allra.sion. you ... this draining 

ava, of aaar,y and w11l by the third year. 1t take. U8 about five yeaTa of 

tl&1 to recuperate-and the S8M process. although 1&01.'8 gradually, occur1.'84 

in Vietn_. Nobody could offer an end pe1.'l04.. 
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Hatloff: Looking back, do you aee any a1&a.iflcaaee of tbe .. a1ns of this 

war for atrategic theory! You refer to the limited war option. Doea that 

experience ba¥e any iapact for strategic theory in theae ter.af 

Kaufmann: 1 don't think that it baa had nearly enough. There baa been 1IUch 

more of the attitude that you got aft.er Korea--no ~re korea. and no .are 

Vietnam.. People, to ., knowledge, really have not looted very objective1f-­

forget about the rilhts and wrongs of our iuvolvement--at tha operational 

aide of it: aacl asked, if we were called upon to do it again, what would we i 
i 

do differently? I'a not aware tbat that bas really been done. I read thlt 

PhD dislertation by Andy ltrapinovich" a veq able fellow. Be wal ,oing 

over the history in an effort to demonstrate that the Army doctrine was a1, 

wro'Q&; another one of tbese attrition versus maneuver arguments. 1 think j 

I 

that i8 a dud horee that eo_how or other keeps getting propped up on its : 

feet. as though tbere were so_tbing to It. I think that the 1l.S. Army Is 

one of the aGst aaneuver-coneciou8 arades in the world. It has aore wheel~ 

than any other army. 

Katloff: You _ntloned China. before, in connection with that .peech. Did! 

you ever get drawn in on any of the discussioos In OSD or In other official! 

circles on the impact of the rise of Communist China on the conflicts of 

Southeast Asia, and what bearing that would have on our relations with the 

Soviet Union! 

Kaufmann: That never really surfaced until the Nixon administration. To 

the beat of .., recollection ..11 through the Johnson administration China 

was still 8uell)' number two, and the prospect that we would get this kind of 

change earta1nly never filtered down to me. 
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Matloft: Were you drawn 1n oa any other questions of area proble .. or 

erlses that we've been touehing on? 

Kaufmann: The '64 busines. tn the Gulf of Tonkin--we set up the sa.e 

apparatus that we set up for the Cuban mi.slle erisia on tbe sssuaption 

that that _ight explode. We called back in some of the same people and 

Bat up all night and then d:Laccwered that it was not going to turn into 

tbat kind of a confrontation. 

Katloff: Waa there ,ood intelligence at the time a8 to wbat was going on? 

Kaufunn: No. My principal recolleetion :La just Sitting there in Harry 

Rowen's office and arguing about wbat time it waa in tbe Gulf of Tonkin. 

Matloff: On the area of ar. control aad disar1ll8lll8nt, what were your 

viewa' Did tbey d1ffer tn any way from those of Kennedy and McNemara on 

the one band, and of Nixon and Sehlesiager on the otber? How did you stand. 

for example, on an ABH systea, and on the limited test ban? 

Kaufaaan: It was a very gradually evolving business in the Kennedy/Johnson 

period. I really first beeame 8ensltized to It. 1 suspect, by 1964. 

McNemara bad been at Camp David with the President. When be came bact. 

whether by hla initiative or by the President'a initiatlve--be never dis-

cussed any dealing. with the Pr •• ident--he was very hot for tak1ns initia-

tiv .. in the aTaB control area. That was after the limlted test ban treaty, 

with which 1 bad nothins to do. aa 1 recall. 1 was very involved 1n setting 

up the Nuclear Planning Group for NATO. wbich waB meant very daU.berataly 

to be a 8ubstitute for the HLP_ 1 don't know if you would call that arms con­

trol. but it was associated with very strong f •• linas about non-proliferation. 
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Matloff: Were you In favor of KLF! 

Kaufgann: No, very flatly opposed to it. 

Matloff: On what ,rounds? 
farce 
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Kaufmann: 1 alway. called it the IlUlttlater.l/~e8t. becau •• it was kind 

of a con job. To begin with, it was very evident from the outset that nobody 

understood how this thins would work, and it was ~ery clear that neither 

President Kennedy nor President Johnson was goins to turn tbe trigger oyeri 

at least tbey were loine to aaintaln veto powers over the, use of the thing. 

Hatloff: Where wae tbe iapetus coains froa for the MLP? 

leufunn: State. 

Katloff: Row about the Nuclear Plaonins Group? Was thi. balne generated 

wlthin your ,roup, .., .. it collins fro. KeNaaral 

Kaufaann: My recollection 18 that in 1961 1 had writ'ten .. ay firat tnvolve-

... nt itl the apeechwrlt1nl buslne .. , which conau.d a lot of .y tiH, a draft--

lo,er Hilsman wanted McN~~ato live a lS-minute speech on the occaSion of , 

AdenaDer's visit in the spring. 1 drafted wbat amounted to about a 45 1I1nute 

speech and HeMaara told loser that that was what he was soing to do and that 

Adenauer wouldn't fall aslea't which was the bi, issue. McNaaaara k.ept hlg 

awake. So what was the followup golng to be? As an alternative to MLF. 

Harry Rowen and I started working on how could we have a serles of dlscus-

810n8 with the Allle8 whlch would bring them into our confidence. We had 

told Adensuer things In this preeentation that he had never been told 

before and he wa., alleledly, eaoraoualy lapre.sed by this candor, which 

had not pl'evloualy been practiced. So. as an alternative to MLF. Harry 
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and t WeTe working on what really beeame NPG. aut when Kennedy seemed to 

lean more toward the HLP, KeN ... ra, 88 the good aold1er Schwelk. said, "All 

dlll1~t we cut: off the crit1da. of MLF." It: wasn't until '64, wben Irbsrd 

IhOWed a lack of lntereat and LBJ was sick of the wbole thina. that we were 

allowed to fire .way at MLP and sink it. At that point the MPG became the 

substitute. 

Matloff: Did you get drawn In on any of the background discussiona relatins 

to the, SALT talks? 

Kaufmann: 1 first be,ca .. aware of what wa. solng on when HeMa_ra aatdd .. 

to start al~iUl John McNavahton a series of seainara on "strategic nuclear 

theory, II aa preparation for John's involve_nt in what were to beeo_ the 

SALT talks, In the apring of 1966. Jobn was killed in the early summer of 

1911' John really didn't want to sit 8tl11 for what amounted to lecturea. 

Ivan Selin took OMer the pref6ratory work and that was my only involveaent 

in SALT. 

Matlofl: Did you aee arms control prlmerl1y a8 a political, strategic. or 

teebnologlcal problea? 

Kaufmann: I aa a vel', bad person to aak about tbis. While I a. by no meana 

opposed to ar .. control, 1 think that lta ,utility baa been wildly exasgerated. 

To put it tbi8 way--1f you could asaume perfeetly rational actor. on tbe 

Soviet and American Sides, with perfect information about not only what 

the otber atde wa. up to at the present but what that otber side would be 

doing ten years fro. now. and wre tben "orkins that into their .111tar, 

planning and doing 1t In tlle 1I08t .,atematie wa, po.dble. that would be 
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the best arms control you could bave. You wouldn't need any .. reements. 

The difficulty comes from thia ideal type not existing. and 1 still think 

that the beat we can do in the way of systematic force planning 18 the beat 

kind of araB control. tben arms control can contribute on the margin to 

helping toward rational force planning. So that's fine; but 1 think we 

awiog between these really wildly polar views and we've dooe th18 all 

along. KcNamara became ao entbu8iaat initially. ln my view, in part becau8e 

of his frustration with getting the Chiefs to do what he thought was seoatble, 

sod because of the eOOrQU8 deaand8 that they kept lllaldog on hi.. Soaehow 

or other he got tbe view that it would be eaaler to deal with the au.siaos. 

I don't th1nk that he ever put it that way to himself, or that he thought 

of it in those ter.a, but, 10 effect, he was 8ayiOl aomano. or other that 

it would be eaaier to atrike a deal lIith the auasians than with the Joint 

Chiefs t which I think i8 not self-eVident. You get that kind of a .wlng. 

and tben you get the awing in the other direction--tbat you can't deal with 

the Rus81ans; let'. really alt 00 our own bureaucracy. We've oscillated 

between those two aod 1 don't think we've really ever asked ourselves 

aerioualy what we think ve can .et out of this process. The teat ban is a 

perfect exaaple. I think it waa a good idea to go to underground teatina, 

but nobody's ever said there 1& a prlee~ and there is a price we've paid 

for ending the atmospheric testing_ A coapr.henalve test ban wouldn't 

bother _. but 1 don't tbink it would .aka a particle of difference. It's 

80rt of a doctor feel-.ood ayndro_-people would somehow or other feel 

better. 



" ,. '" •• ~. ," eO, 'f.. " If.' \ 

Page determined to be Unclassified 
Reviewed Chief, RDD. WHS 
lAW EO 13526. Section 3.5 
Date: SEP 1 7 2013 

Katloff= &o.e leaeral questioas about the Cold War pol1ct.s--did you 

24 

belt .. e that coatala.ent ... a realistic policy? that lta a •• umption8 

.ere valid and that deterrence could be kept at a relatively atable level? 

buf_an: 1 never belleved tbat one could put a rtng arOWld the Soviet 

bloc and prevent the. from wandering through it at various places, or 

that you could ever mobilize suffieieat support for a policy of that .ort 

to aake it at all realisttc. It vaa alyaya goi08 to be a aelective .. tter. 

Hatloff: Row about detente 'I Do you aee it as another Bide of the a_ 

coin. something d1fferent, a more realistic policy? 
% 

buf_un: It'. a ver, good que.tion, to which I really don't have an 

anaver, although Itve puzzled over it a great deal in the aenae that, though 

th18 .y be chaog:lna sOllt/What in the Soviet Union, we really are dealtna 

with a very paranoid belief tbat cantt distloguiah between offenae ~nd 

defeaae in a rather generic aenae and ia ao paranoid that its defenaive 

needs are aI_at inflaite, and therefore are bound to become offenaive 

from the atandpoint of ita neighbors. Therefore there ia this very fine 

ltne that we have to try and walk.. and for a society auch a. ours it' a a 

very difficult ODe--abow1ng them aufficient atrenath that they reali.e 

that the, cant t juat keep pushing and yet: not being so ferocious looking 

to thea tbat we stir up the vorst of their paranoia. It's a very difficul~t 

delicate tightrope. 

Matloff: Bow effective wa. 8ilitary aid, on the basis of your atudiea 

and knowledgs, aa a tool for political leverage in the Cold Wart 

ltaufunn: 1 tMu tbat our eost effective aUltary assistance was to our 

Buropea1l a1Ues. 
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Matloff: Are for .. l alliance. the most effective way of coupllDi American 

and forelln .llttar, power and 1.pleaent1ftB American strategic al .. , 

Kauf.ann: 1 don't .ee any real alternative to the foraal alliances. I've 

alway. had the problem 1n planninl that we've always .aid we want the al11e8 

to do .are. But when it came down to what wa. loing to be the US input. we 

tended to •• " "Here's the threat; berets the 8111ed input a8 a glven; and 

we're golUS to aske up the difference." The US will be the var1able In the 

equation. You could work. it the other way at'ound. and say, as used to be 

the caee in many traditional alliance., "Bere', what we have to offer; here 

•• are our/ .... divisiona, tacdcal air wings. etc.; now you deslgn around us." 

Whereas, we work it the other way around, and atill do. I think that we 

need IIOre flexibility in that respect. NATO has been 11ke thi. drunk on 

the precipice who aaDages never quite to fall oyer. I don't know bow .uch 

longer we can kee9 it up.. Wetll all end up speaking Roaancbe--I was brought 

up partly in Switlerland. 

Kat loff : I don't ever rame.ber reading about NATO when aomeOne basn It aaid 

that it's in disarray. 

Kaufmann: Harry &owen'. successor had a atamp made .aying, "In thi8 critical 

time in~the Hfe of the alltance,,' which he could just atamp on any paper. 

Katloff: What about your perspective. on OSD organization and manageeant? 

Do you see the need for further changes In structure. working relat10na. 

or functions in OSD J or DoD? 

Kaufmann: Quite frankly, I think that we're making a aeriea of disastrous 

m1stakes rilht now, baaed on the understandable frustration w1th the way 

things are being managed currently. 1 think that we're deaUng with a 
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.peeUte. when, a couple of year8 fr01ll now. if a -veq' strong Secretary of 

Defenee eo .. s into offtce, be may very well find himself severely hamstrung 

by 80me of the institutional changes that are now takins place. I became 

"ery interested. even before becotal: .. directly Invol'ged. In the wa, President 

Eisenhower va. approaching these issuee. I just atarted readins the Ambrose 

biography. and I think basically he had it right--that there was no substitute 

for a very strong Seeretary of Defense. You can't guarantee that that wl11 

be the ea •• t but t do lewinely believe that McWa.ra lave a d81DOnatrat10n. 

It had a lot of rov.gh spots 1n it. because it was the flut of its kind and 

generated an enormous amount of reaistance. but he demonstrated how mucb 

you really can do with a strong, knowledgeable. encl very courageous Secre-

tary of Defense. So 1Il&Ily of theee wrinklea people keep sUlsesting. whether 

itt. the Packard Commi.sion or reforming the JeS, ate., are really .katlas 

around the central issues. I'. not that know1edleable on the operational 

side. and 1f 1 t _b. 8ensa to uka the Chairman lIUch IIOre powerful as the 

operstor and to deal directly with the theater cORIIUnders. etc., I have no 

-views. It's really on the force planning side. There I think we're just 

making life potentially very difficult for a future Secretary of Defens. in 

the thiD88 that are now beias proposed. 

HaUoff: Do you have any strong feelings about unification of the services-­

whether 1t can or should go further! 

kufunn: I think it'. a w .. te of tt.., lIlY.elf. Again t 1 think that that» 

to a larae e~tentt has to be one of the functions of the Secretary of 

Defense. We vant a certain alllOunt of competition; 1t IS the source of 
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ideas. Evea lf w. put everybody In the famous purple suit, yould stIll 

have the engineers figbting witb the artillery _n, the tankers and the 

submariners. etc., because the divisions within the services are just as 

great. if not greater, than dlv1810n8 8IIOng the services. The Canadians 
not 

have lmade a Ireat BucceS. out of it. to .., k.nowledge. 
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~tloff: from your perspective t coming in and out of the department. do 

you have any sense of whetber atretegic analysis has been effeetively 

institutionalized in tbe defense establishment? 

Kaufmann: I think that at leaet within the services the quality of the work 

bas probably i!lproved. Whether it ,eU out i8 another issue. On tbe 081) 

lide. again tbere Is IlUch too IIlUch of a propensity to work the micro instead 

of the macro 81d8 of the problem, whleb 1. fuzsler and not nearly as amenable 

to the quantitative tecbniques. It does.tt preclude the., but tbere are 

maay more judl.nt. that have to be _de. I tbink that'. what the Secretary 

needs far more. He can't avoid dec18ioll. I1n, "Will I buy F-16. or F-Us?" 

lut moetly he need. help and wants help on the very large issues of bow 

IISny things should be buy. 

Matloff: How would you characterize tbe atyles, personalitie8. .nd effec­

tiveness of the Secretarie. of Defense and other top officials 111 OSD with 

whoa you aay have woned or aened? Just a tbu.bnail reaction. if you 

w111. You ''Ie already _nUoGed Helia_ra. Is there anything IIOre that: 

occurs to you about his 8tyle of management, deciaion-maklng, or his regard 

or 418regar4 for military advice; his uee of consultaats' And then people 

like Scbleat:na;er. or other See:retarlea of Defena ... -how effective wera they? 
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Kaufmann: In a formal 88nse, I worked for six. Four of thea are really 

2.8 

all that I eount. Clifford was there such a short time. and 80 was Elliot 

R.ichard80n. I bad the IIOst dealings with McNamara t Schlesinser. Rum8feld t 

and Brown. Those four are "ery different people. I would still rank 

McNamara as the firat alIOug those four t even though he caused an enorllOUs 

allQunt of animosity. What I'm still not clear about in my own mind is the 

extent to wMch, &ven had tbere not been this enorlIOus sense that he was 

poaehing on serYice territory. the animosities would have been there. Not 

only be. but also his 8ubordinates, with ".ry few exceptions, were a pretty 

arrogant bunch. No question about it, they were not diplomatic. There 

would have been this fisurative blood on the floor aayway, given the way 

that the territorial Unes bacl been drawn ia the '50s. and HcNamara was 

really chang:l11l thoae 11nes very dramatically_ There would have been 

fights even with the most diplomatic tind of operations. But I dontt think 

that it had to be aa abrasive as in fact it waa. I was really lII1eb closer 

to Senl.siDier thaD to any of the others. I probably did IIOre work for 

Browu than for the other three t but just in point of UM--I was there to 

the point where tbey were dockill8 my salary at HIT. Sclllesinser was a very 

critical student of McNamara, in a nasative sense. An article he wrote 

once was titled "Two Cheers for McNaura." or so_thing of that sort. Jim 

is a very complicated personality also, but I think be attempted to put 

Into effect a system of trying to strike deals with the services. He 

viewed McNa .. ra. and with some justification. as mueh too authoritarian in 

his relationship. with the service. and much too focused on centralization 
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In faet, 

MCNamara tried to ereate aa infor .. tion systell thet would tell hi. what was 

going on out tbere. becauae he would discover periodically that he just 

didn't know what was happening. Be flllht gi.e aa order and then three 

thousand .U.. away aouthing would be happeni. that: bore no relation to 

the order. Vbile Ji.'. basic analyais had to be pret~y IlUCh the aa ... it 

was probably a better IIOdus operandi. He did strike a ~ery 'good deal with 

Abrall.; be struck a .ery good deal with the Atr Foree. Be never could get 

a deal witb the Na.y. that indepandent: 80verelln state just could not be 

really worked 0'0.. 1 tbink that was one of Jim' 8 great frustrationa, aside 

fro. Henry [lUe8inger J and all hi8 battlea with hill. Ue had a 98ry good 

personal relationahip with both Abra .. and D8ge Jones, and could ait dOW'll 

with thell aad deal. Be waa able to aay, "All dlht, we're loing to have to 

live withia a manpower eonatraiat in the Ar.,., but if yOu can get 16 d1vi8iona 

out of that 118npower eonatraint, you can have thell.. I'. not 10i'O& to hold 

you to 80_ arbitrarUy dictated lillit.'· Both he aDd 1 agreed that the 

Ar1IIy oueht to have at leaat 16 diviaiona. Sll1ilarly with Dave JOGea-he 

waa able to work out a deal on the nUflber of wings and tbe hlah-low mixture 

of iSs and 16a; but witb tha Navy, never. 

Matloff: Any impreaaioDs of Brown? 

Kauf .. nn: In IQ terms, I auspect Harold waa by far tbe briahteat of the 

bunch. I suapect that even MeHaur:a might adillt that. 1 never: underatood 

Harold. He waa a very reclusive peraoD. and not an easy person to talk 

with. We ea..unieated far fIOre 1n writing than iD peraoDal eonveraatloD. 
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He was an o_lvorous reader. I would sit down and just write thinga, and 

then he'd co .... t on tbea. That was mostly the way we operated. lie waa an 

extremely cautious peraoD. I rememher once asking Ada. Yarmollnsky, "Ia 

that the way Harold was 10 tbe HeNamara years? I dldD't have that iaprea-

8ion." And Adam said, HOb, yea, he was then." lut he had a great deal to 

be cautious about in the Carter administration, becau.e that was a very 

difficult envlrou.ent. 1 quit after the tbird year, in part just out of 

sheer hurDout. I was teachina a full tl .. load at HIT and speDdioa 240 days 

or eomething 11ke that 10. tbe Pentagon. Charies DunC8D took .. over for a 

lot of hiB activities, so I waa dolni work for both Brown and Duncan. and 

dl'aftlo.g the anDual defeDae report, and it just got to be too much. 

Hatloff: Did you do the same in the Ford period? 

Kauflllmn: I start.d really doing it for Schlesinger, as a favor. 1 worked 

in the brief period that Clifford waa secretary, mostly with Paul Rltze. 

who was his deputy, and had been the deputy 10 the lest few _IlCha of the 

McNamara period. Paul and I dated back to tha 1I1d-50s, so it waB a very 

eaay relationship, per80nally. 1 never lot to know Clifford until after 

he left offiee. 1 ,ot: called in by JonathaD Moore, who 'Worked very closely 

wtth Richardson at a variety of places, and was bis speCial a.atataat at 

OSD for that brief period. Jonathan wanteel .. to work on the posture 

atat .... Dt that La1rd had 1.ft thea. I did that t and theD I was told subse­

quently that Henry [nS8:1ng8r] found out that 1 waB getting involved and 

told 8111 Cla_llts to atop that. Henry and I have s very ancient and 

difficult re1atlonsbip. I then went to CtA with Schlesinger and next came 

with hla to DoD. Ruufeld and I had a rather awk,ward relatio_hip, too. 
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He never really lot into the luts of the business. t think he spent more 

tiM wonyine about the corridors than he d1cl about the plannins. Quite 

candidly, he used to drive .. crazy with his absolutely Insane nitpicking 

about speecnes and thinss. Fortunately. he had a first class principal 

~ilitary aaalatant, a Navy admiral, 80 1 was alwa,8 able to work with hi., 

but I really had serious run-ins with Rumsfeld. 

Katloff: 'You would place McNamara as number one allOng those that you bad 

contact with? Would tbis be in terms of effectiveDess and iapace? 

Kaufmann: 'Yes. 

Matloff: You would put Schlesinaer second? 

Kaufunn: Yes. out of tbe six. With Rumsleld in a Hn" it'a Gafab, 

because he was there only 16 months or le.s and he came 1n les. prepared 

than just abo~t any of the others. 

Mat loU: Row about other officials, l>eputy SecDefs. Asaiatant Seeretartes t 

or Joint Chiefst Were there any who particularly impressed you over the years? 

lCauflllann: Of the Chiefs, despite everything. I was alway. illPre ... d by 

LeMay. 1 knew John Wickham vary well before, beeause he waa Schlesinger's 

nuaber one military a •• istant, and t had a Iteat deal to do with John. t 

thought well of Dave Jonea. 

Matloff: How about people like 8nthoven. Hitcb! 
.t 

Kaufmann: Tbey were old land asaodatea. Hitch. lowen, Enthaven-they 

wel'e paraonal friends. I had t and continue to have, very h1lh reaard for 

the.. 1 really need to look at liats of names to refresh ., memory, but 

there were some absolutely fitat cla.a military people with who. 1 enjoyed 
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work.ing. 1 thought the world of Adairal Holcomb and regretted that he vas 

not CNO. Be would have been an absolutely superlative one. He succeeded 

Wickham as military asstatant. 

Matloff: In the lenera! business of the role of the consultant: in leveraw 

ment. in relation to the Defenae Department t how do you see the role of the 

consultant? What can he contribute to the bureaucracy! What qualities 

should he possea. Ideally, and at what point in the planning and declsion-

making process is it aost effective to introduce him? Are there advantages 

or diaadvantages in the consultant 

businesat Yours has been a long experience. 

Kaufmann: It was a Ions one. and., gue •• ia, because of a series of acci-

dents and aa.oclations, probably a unique one. It mtght happen again, but 

it really required a very special set of conditions. 1 think that, unless 

consultants are really willing to get in and work very closely with the 

staffa, for the !lOst part they're not all that useful. That was certainly 

my experience while 1 was still at land, doing the counter-force study. It 

was just not feaaible anymore, if it ever really had been, to sit in Santa 

Monica for three years and write and then go present results. Maybe events 

were slower in the early and mid-SOs aDd you could do a three-year study 

in isolation. But certainly by the time I sot heavily iftVolved I found 

that 1~ had to be a rolling kind of operation that dealt continually aDd on 

increasingly confidential ter .. with staff. Unless you were really willing 

to get your hands dirty in their proble.s, you probably were not going to 
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be very useful or have a great deal of influence on decisions. I tb1nk the 

notion that you can wander in ODce a week, or for a day or once a montb, is 

probably wrona. You really bave to plunge in. 

Matloff: Here's one you may not want to tackle. What do you estimate wae 

the overall impact of Rand in tbe ~arioua administrations that you served, 

going from Biaenbower to Nlxon, say? 

Kaufmann: I would say. as far aa I could tell, that tbere was a lot of 

bread and butter work. partleularly on the losi.tteal 81de, tbat land dld 

fot' the Air Poree t that wun' t at all glalllOroua. but waa extre_1y useful. 

It W88 refining mostly Air rotee ideas aDd making them dOre efficient aDd 

ao on. I think that was very valuabLe. There may ha~. been three or four 

of these big studies that pa:td off. I think what ended up beppening, to 

Rand's dismay, la that it beealle a very useful recruiting ,round for ataffing 

000, and still la. It i8 very hard in aeademia to replicate that intermedia~e 

kind of experience that you aet at Rand, that ian't quite the hands-on 

tbin, that you have to worry abOut 1n 8overn_nt, but still Is dealias 

fairly operationally with 18sue8. 

Matloff: What do you regard as your major contrlbution8 and ~chleve .. nt. 

in the field of national security and 8t~ate,1c analysis durlDi your service 

in or for 05D. particularly in their lmpact on the defense eatabllsh .. nt--or 

anytblDi In wblch you take particular pride or satiafaction, 100klD1 back 

on your aerviee? 

Kauf1llal\n: Itve really never thought about that. I don't know whether 

pride 18 quite the right word, but. quite frankly, Itm 11ad t bad a funny 
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combination of what started off very much as a liberal arts and history 

baekground, which I think is a much better discipline than international 

relations, even though that was my formal ticket. AI1d that I had really 

what amounted to a second edw:ation at Iland t which involved _ much 1I0re in 

the more quantitative areas of this line of work. And that I had the satia-

faction. If you will. of exercising both of tnose skill., aueh as they are, 

in an unusual environment. Particularly, I guess the greatest satisfaction 

was the first couple of yeal'S of the Kennedy administl'st1on. Kennedy and I 

had been in prep school together. and it waa a very special kind of time. 

That was the most aatisfying period. We really felt like we were on the 

frontier in the eal'ly '608; after that, a lot of the fun went out of it, 

and it waa 1I0re of a duty. It was remarkable how much one kept replaying 

the aa_ themea. I uaed to be amused by the atoriea which would come out 

saying that Harold Brown had really struck a freah note, when it was maybe 

a alightly different writeup of 80mething that had been said 20 years 

before. 

Matloff: What was your greateat frustration or disappointment that you had 

ln dealing with the Depart_nt of Defense a8 a consultant? 

Kaufmann: I guess that it was a gradual sense of what 1, to thb day, 

believe were sensible reformS, lnstituted by McNamara, being gradually 

eroded, to the point where I think, frankly, under Secretsry Weinberger we 

are right baek in the 'SOs again in management. Weinberger i. preslding 

over the department; and you have the Chlefs, who are really back at the 

old stand. Since there has been plenty of money until recently, you have 
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not aeen the Ulhta break out. It is 10illl to be very intereating. over 

the next couple of year., to aee bow they are loing to unase a pre.u-.bly 

.ore Spartan diet. I've already had indicationa fro. varioua old friends 

that internecine warfare la likely to break out, 1f it basn't already begun. 

I juat dOD't think Welllberger knows bow to -nase that situation. 

Hatloff; Do you want to add anything to this Uat of questions? 

ltaufUIlU: No It 'You I re tbe boaa. 

lIatloff: 1 want to thank you for your cooperation. and for sbaring your 

recollections and insigbta witb us. 

Kaufmann: I enjoyed it. 
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